

(Published by the Authority of the City Council of the City of Chicago)

COPY



**JOURNAL of the PROCEEDINGS
of the
CITY COUNCIL
of the
CITY of CHICAGO, ILLINOIS**

Regular Meeting -- Monday, May 14, 2007

at 8:30 A.M.

(Council Chambers -- City Hall -- Chicago, Illinois)

OFFICIAL RECORD

RICHARD M. DALEY
Mayor

MIGUEL DEL VALLE
City Clerk

Attendance At Meeting.

Present -- The Honorable Richard M. Daley, Mayor, and Aldermen Flores, Haithcock, Preckwinkle, Hairston, Lyle, Beavers, Harris, Beale, Pope, Balcer, Cárdenas, Olivo, Burke, T. Thomas, Coleman, L. Thomas, Lane, Rugai, Brookins, Muñoz, Zalewski, Solis, Ocasio, Burnett, E. Smith, Carothers, Reboyras, Suarez, Matlak, Mell, Austin, Banks, Mitts, Allen, Laurino, O'Connor, Doherty, Natarus, Daley, Tunney, Levar, Shiller, Schulter, M. Smith, Moore, Stone.

Absent -- Aldermen Tillman, Troutman, Chandler, Cólón.

Call To Order.

On Monday, May 14, 2007 at 8:30 A.M., The Honorable Richard M. Daley, Mayor, called the City Council to order. The clerk called the roll of members and it was found that there were present at that time: Aldermen Flores, Haithcock, Preckwinkle, Hairston, Lyle, Beavers, Harris, Pope, Balcer, Cárdenas, Olivo, Burke, T. Thomas, L. Thomas, Lane, Rugai, Brookins, Muñoz, Zalewski, Solis, Ocasio, Burnett, E. Smith, Carothers, Reboyras, Suarez, Matlak, Mell, Austin, Banks, Mitts, Allen, Laurino, O'Connor, Natarus, Daley, Tunney, Shiller, Schulter, M. Smith, Moore, Stone -- 42.

Quorum present.

Pledge Of Allegiance.

Alderman Natarus led the City Council and assembled guests in the Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag of the United States of America.

Invocation.

Reverend Philip L. Blackwell, Senior Pastor of First United Methodist Church, opened the meeting with prayer.

**REPORTS AND COMMUNICATIONS
FROM CITY OFFICERS.**

City Council Informed As To Certain Action Taken.

PUBLICATION OF PAMPHLET.

*Amendment Of Titles 2, 4 And 17 Of Municipal
Code Of Chicago Regarding Affordable
Housing Requirements.*

The City Clerk informed the City Council that a substitute ordinance authorizing the amendment of Titles 2, 4 and 17 of the Municipal Code of the City of Chicago regarding affordable housing requirements, which was *Deferred* on May 9, 2007 and which was requested to be published in pamphlet form, was published in pamphlet form on May 11, 2007.

REPORTS OF COMMITTEES.

None.

AGREED CALENDAR.

None.

MATTERS PRESENTED BY THE ALDERMEN.

***(Presented By Wards, In Order, Beginning
With The Fiftieth Ward)***

Arranged under the following subheadings:

1. Traffic Regulations, Traffic Signals and Traffic-Control Devices.
2. Zoning Ordinance Amendments.
3. Claims.
4. Unclassified Matters (arranged in order according to ward numbers).
5. Free Permits, License Fee Exemptions, Cancellation of Warrants for Collection and Water Rate Exemptions, Et Cetera.

***1. TRAFFIC REGULATIONS, TRAFFIC SIGNS
AND TRAFFIC-CONTROL DEVICES.***

***Referred -- ESTABLISHMENT OF LOADING
ZONES AT SUNDRY LOCATIONS.***

The aldermen named below presented proposed ordinances to establish loading zones at the locations designated and for the distances and times specified, which were *Referred to the Committee on Traffic Control and Safety*, as follows:

Alderman	Location, Distance And Time
<i>BROOKINS</i> (1 st Ward)	South Eggleston Avenue, at 8928 (Handicapped Parking Permit 52047);

Alderman	Location, Distance And Time
OCASIO (26 th Ward)	West Chicago Avenue, at 2625 -- 15 minute limit -- unattended vehicles must have lights activated -- tow-away zone -- 7:00 A.M. to 7:00 P.M. -- daily;
STONE (50 th Ward)	North Claremont Avenue, at 6351, for a distance of 50 feet -- 4:00 P.M. to 10:00 P.M. -- daily; North Kedzie Avenue (west side) from a point 53 feet south of West Devon Avenue, to a point 73 feet south of West Devon Avenue -- 8:00 A.M. to 8:00 P.M. -- daily (valet parking).

Referred -- CONSIDERATION FOR INSTALLATION
OF "ONE-WAY STOP" SIGN ON PORTION
OF WEST FARWELL AVENUE.

Alderman Stone (50th Ward) presented a proposed order directing the Commissioner of Transportation to give consideration to the installation of a "One-Way Stop" sign on West Farwell Avenue, at the southeast corner of North Washtenaw Avenue, which was *Referred to the Committee on Traffic Control and Safety*.

2. ZONING ORDINANCE AMENDMENTS.

None.

3. CLAIMS.

Referred -- CLAIMS AGAINST CITY OF CHICAGO.

The aldermen named below presented four proposed claims against the City of Chicago for the claimants named as noted, respectively, which were *Referred to the Committee on Finance*, as follows:

Alderman	Claimant
HAITHCOCK (2 nd Ward)	Commonwealth Historic Homeowners Association;
O'CONNOR (40 th Ward)	Balmoral Gardens Condominium Association;
STONE (50 th Ward)	Ms. Kristen P. Driscoll; Mr. Jeffrey Shultz.

4. UNCLASSIFIED MATTERS.

(Arranged In Order According To Ward Number)

Proposed ordinances and orders were presented by the aldermen named below, respectively, and were acted upon by the City Council in each case in the manner noted, as follows:

Presented By

ALDERMAN ZALEWSKI (23rd Ward):

Referred -- AUTHORIZATION FOR ISSUANCE OF SPECIAL EVENT
LICENSES AND PERMITS, FREE OF CHARGE, TO
PARTICIPANTS IN AND APPLICANTS
FOR SPECIFIED EVENTS.

Two proposed ordinances authorizing the Director of Revenue and the Commissioners of Buildings, Streets and Sanitation, Sewers and Fire to issue all necessary special event licenses and permits, including Food Vendor, Itinerant Merchant, Raffle Licenses, Fire Prevention, Tent and Canopy Erection and Street Closure Permits, free of charge, to applicants for and participants in the events noted, which were *Referred to the Committee on Special Events and Cultural Affairs*, as follows:

Saint Jane De Chantal Family Fest -- to be held at 5157 South McVicker Avenue on September 8 and 9, 2007; and

Saint Richard's Family Fest and Carnival -- to be held at 5030 South Kostner Avenue for the period extending August 2 through August 5, 2007.

Referred -- PERMISSION TO PARK PICKUP TRUCKS
AND/OR VANS AT SPECIFIED LOCATIONS.

Also, two proposed orders directing the Commissioner of Transportation to grant permission to the applicants listed to park pickup trucks and/or vans at the locations specified, in accordance with the provisions of Title 9, Chapter 64, Section 170(a) of the Municipal Code of Chicago, which were *Referred to the Committee on Traffic Control and Safety*, as follows:

Mr. Arturo Blanca -- 5017 South Kilbourn Avenue; and

Mr. Kurt G. Kaner -- 5526 South Newcastle Avenue.

5/14/2007

NEW BUSINESS PRESENTED BY ALDERMEN

106481

Presented By

ALDERMAN SOLIS (25th Ward):

Referred -- AUTHORIZATION FOR ISSUANCE OF SPECIAL EVENT
LICENSES AND PERMITS, FREE OF CHARGE,
IN CONJUNCTION WITH VARIOUS EVENTS.

Three proposed ordinances authorizing the Executive Director of Construction and Permits, the Director of Revenue and the Commissioners of Buildings, Streets and Sanitation, Transportation, Water Management and Fire to issue all necessary special event licenses and permits, free of charge, in conjunction with the events noted, which were *Referred to the Committee on Special Events and Cultural Affairs*, as follows:

Chicago Temple Street Festival -- to be held at 2128 -- 2132 South Archer Avenue every weekend within the period of June 28, 2007 through August 12, 2007;

Fiesta del Sol -- to be held on West Cermak Road, from South Morgan Street to South Loomis Street, for the period extending July 26 through July 29, 2007; and

Saint Basil's Festival -- to be held on 1500 -- 1600 West Polk Street on June 9 and 10, 2007.

Presented By

ALDERMAN OCASIO (26th Ward):

Referred -- AUTHORIZATION FOR DONATION OF AMBULANCE
TO TOWN OF DEGOLLADO, JALISCO, MEXICO.

A proposed ordinance authorizing the Commissioner of Fleet Management to enter into and execute such documents as may be necessary to effectuate the donation of an outdated ambulance, free of any liens and encumbrances in an "as is" condition, to the town of Degollado, Jalisco, Mexico, which was *Referred to the Committee on Police and Fire*.

Presented By

ALDERMAN BANKS (36th Ward):

*Referred -- EXEMPTION OF SHRINERS HOSPITAL FOR CHILDREN
FROM CITY FEES UNDER NOT-FOR-PROFIT STATUS.*

A proposed ordinance providing Shriners Hospital for Children with inclusive exemption, under its not-for-profit status, from all city fees related to the erection and maintenance of building(s) and fuel storage facilities at 2211 North Oak Park Avenue for a two year period beginning February 17, 2007 and ending February 15, 2009, which was *Referred to the Committee on Finance.*

Presented By

ALDERMAN NATARUS (42nd Ward):

*Referred -- AUTHORIZATION FOR WAIVER OF ITINERANT
MERCHANT LICENSE FEES IN CONJUNCTION
WITH GOLD COAST ART FAIR.*

A proposed order authorizing the Director of Business Affairs and Licensing to waive the Itinerant Merchant License fees in conjunction with the Gold Coast Art Fair to be held on August 3 through August 5, 2007, which was *Referred to the Committee on Special Events and Cultural Affairs.*

5. *FREE PERMITS, LICENSE FEE EXEMPTIONS,
CANCELLATION OF WARRANTS FOR
COLLECTION AND WATER
RATE EXEMPTIONS,
ET CETERA.*

Alderman Zalewski (23rd Ward) presented a proposed ordinance for the refund of a senior citizen sewer charge assessed against Mr. Edward Fulat, which was *Referred to the Committee on Finance.*

**APPROVAL OF JOURNAL
OF PROCEEDINGS.**

None.

UNFINISHED BUSINESS.

AMENDMENT OF TITLES 2, 4 AND 17 OF MUNICIPAL
CODE OF CHICAGO REGARDING AFFORDABLE
HOUSING REQUIREMENTS.

On motion of Alderman Burke, the City Council took up for consideration the report of the Joint Committee comprised of the Committee on Housing and Real Estate and the Committee on Zoning, deferred and May 9, 2007, and printed in pamphlet form on May 11, 2007, recommending that the City Council pass a proposed substitute ordinance to amend Titles 2, 4 and 17 of the Municipal Code of Chicago regarding affordable housing requirements.

Alderman Preckwinkle and Alderman Burnett submitted the following amendment:

Be It Ordained by the City Council of the City of Chicago:

SECTION 1. Section 2-44-090 of the Municipal Code is hereby amended by adding the language underscored and deleting the language struck through, as follows:

2-44-090 Affordable Housing Commitment.

(a) For purposes of this section:

“Affordable housing” means (1) with respect to rental housing, housing that is affordable to households earning up to 60 percent of the Chicago Primary Metropolitan Statistical Area median income and (2) with respect to owner occupied housing, housing that is affordable to households earning up to ~~100~~ 80 percent of the Chicago Primary Metropolitan Statistical Area median income; provided that if a developer develops a lesser amount of affordable housing units pursuant to subsection (d)(2), “affordable housing” for those housing units means, with respect to owner occupied housing units, housing that is affordable to households earning up to 80 percent of the Chicago Primary Metropolitan Statistical Area median income.

(Omitted text is unaffected by this ordinance.)

“Eligibility criteria” means (1) with respect to rental housing, at the time of the first rental by that household, a household earning up to 60 percent of the Chicago Primary Metropolitan Statistical area median income and (2) with respect to owner occupied housing, at the time of the purchase of the unit, a household earning up to ~~100~~ 80 percent of the Chicago Primary Metropolitan Statistical Area median income; provided that if a developer develops a lesser amount of owner occupied affordable housing units pursuant to subsection (d)(2), the “eligibility criteria” for those affordable housing units means, with respect to owner occupied housing units, at the time of the purchase of the unit, housing that is affordable to households earning up to 80 percent of the Chicago Primary Metropolitan Statistical Area median income.

Alderman Suarez moved to *Lay on the Table* the foregoing proposed amendment.

The motion *Prevailed* by yeas and nays as follows:

Yeas -- Aldermen Haithcock, Beavers, Harris, Pope, Balcer, Olivo, Burke, L. Thomas, Lane, Rugai, Brookins, Zalewski, Solis, Carothers, Suarez, Matlak, Mell, Austin, Banks, Mitts, Allen, Laurino, O'Connor, Natarus, Daley, Tunney, M. Smith, Stone -- 28.

Nays -- Aldermen Flores, Preckwinkle, Hairston, Lyle, T. Thomas, Muñoz, Ocasio, Burnett, E. Smith, Reboyras, Moore -- 11.

Alderman Ocasio then submitted the following proposed amendment:

Be It Ordained by the City Council of the City of Chicago:

SECTION 1. Section 2-44-090 of the Municipal Code is hereby amended by adding the language underscored and by deleting the language struck through, as follows:

2-44-090 Affordable Housing Commitment.

(a) For purposes of this section:

“Affordable housing” means (1) with respect to rental housing, housing that is affordable to households earning up to 60 percent of the ~~Chicago Metropolitan Statistical Area median income~~ Actual Chicago Median Income and (2) with respect with to owner occupied housing, housing that is affordable to households earning up to 100 percent of the ~~Chicago Primary Metropolitan Statistical Area median income~~ Actual Chicago Median Income.

(Omitted text is unaffected by this ordinance.)

“Eligibility Criteria” means (1) with respect to rental housing, at the time of the first rental by that household, a household earning up to 60 percent of the ~~Chicago Primary Metropolitan Statistical Area median income~~ Actual Chicago Median Income and (2) with respect to owner occupied housing, at the time of the purchase of the unit, a household earning up to 100 percent of the ~~Chicago Primary Metropolitan Median Income~~ Actual Chicago Median Income and (3) household that can demonstrate residency in the City of Chicago for at least 5 years.

SECTION 2. This ordinance shall be in force and effect upon passage and approval.

Alderman Suarez moved to *Lay on the Table* the foregoing proposed amendment.

The motion *Prevailed* by yeas and nays as follows:

Yeas -- Aldermen Beavers, Harris, Pope, Balcer, Cárdenas, Burke, L. Thomas, Lane, Rugai, Brookins, Zalewski, Solis, Carothers, Reboyras, Suarez, Matlak, Mell, Austin, Banks, Mitts, Allen, Laurino, O'Connor, Doherty, Natarus, Daley, Tunney, Levar, Schulter, M. Smith, Stone -- 31.

Nays -- Aldermen Flores, Haithcock, Preckwinkle, Hairston, Lyle, Beale, T. Thomas, Muñoz, Ocasio, Burnett, E. Smith, Moore -- 12.

Thereupon, on motion of Alderman Suarez, the said proposed substitute ordinance, deferred on May 9, 2007 and published in pamphlet form on May 11, 2007, was *Passed* by yeas and nays as follows:

Yeas -- Aldermen Flores, Haithcock, Preckwinkle, Hairston, Lyle, Beavers, Harris, Beale, Pope, Balcer, Cárdenas, Olivo, Burke, T. Thomas, Coleman, L. Thomas, Lane, Rugai, Brookins, Muñoz, Zalewski, Solis, Burnett, E. Smith, Carothers, Reboyas, Suarez, Matlak, Mell, Austin, Banks, Mitts, Allen, Laurino, O'Connor, Natarus, Daley, Tunney, Levar, Shiller, Schulter, M. Smith, Moore, Stone -- 44.

Nays -- Aldermen Ocasio, Doherty -- 2.

Alderman Natarus moved to reconsider the foregoing vote. The motion was lost.

The following is said ordinance as passed:

Be It Ordained by the City Council of the City of Chicago:

SECTION 1. Section 2-44-090 of the Municipal Code is hereby amended by adding the language underscored and by deleting the language struck through, as follows:

2-44-090 Affordable Housing Commitment.

(a) For purposes of this section:

"Affordable housing" means (1) with respect to rental housing, housing that is affordable to households earning up to 60 percent of the Chicago Primary Metropolitan Statistical Area median income and (2) with respect to owner occupied housing, housing that is affordable to households earning up to 100 percent of the Chicago Primary Metropolitan Statistical Area median income; provided that if a developer develops a lesser amount of affordable housing units pursuant to subsection (d)(2), "affordable housing" for those housing units means, with respect to owner occupied housing units, housing that is affordable to households earning up to 80 percent of the Chicago Primary Metropolitan Statistical Area median income.

"The Chicago Community Land Trust" or "CLT" means the Illinois not-for-profit corporation established by ordinance adopted on January 11, 2006, and published at pages 67997 through 68004 in the *Journal of Proceedings of the City Council* of such date, and having as its primary mission the preservation of long-term affordability of housing units.

"Commissioner" means the Commissioner of Housing.

"Condominium" means a form of property established pursuant to the Illinois Condominium Property Act.

“Developer” means any person who develops housing units, but does not include a lender or any governmental entity.

“Development” or “develop” means the construction or substantial rehabilitation of housing units or the conversion of any building into residential condominiums.

“Eligibility criteria” means (1) with respect to rental housing, at the time of the first rental by that household, a household earning up to 60 percent of the Chicago Primary Metropolitan Statistical Area median income and (2) with respect to owner occupied housing, at the time of the purchase of the unit, a household earning up to 100 percent of the Chicago Primary Metropolitan Statistical Area median income; provided that if a developer develops a lesser amount of owner occupied affordable housing units pursuant to section (d)(2), the “eligibility criteria” for those affordable housing units means, with respect to owner occupied housing units, at the time of the purchase of the unit, housing that is affordable to households earning up to 80 percent of the Chicago Primary Metropolitan Statistical Area median income.

“Financial assistance” means any assistance provided by the city through grants, direct or indirect loans, or allocation of tax credits for the development of residential housing units.

“Housing unit” means a room or suite of rooms designed, occupied or intended for occupancy as a separate living quarter with cooking, sleeping and sanitary facilities provided within the unit for the exclusive use of the occupants of the unit; provided that a “housing unit” does not include dormitories or hotels as that term is defined in section 13-4-010 of the Code.

“Initial sale” means the first sale of an affordable housing unit by a developer.

“Planned development” has the same meaning as ascribed to that term in section 17-17-02120 of the Zoning Code.

“Residential housing project” or “project” means one or more buildings that collectively contain ten or more housing units on one or more tax parcels or lots marketed as a single or unified project or sharing common elements, or comprising a part of a planned development or the addition of ten or more housing units to an existing building.

“Substantial rehabilitation” means the reconstruction, enlargement, installation, repair, alteration, improvement or renovation of a building, structure or portion thereof requiring a permit issued by the city; provided the cost ~~for the project of the substantial rehabilitation~~ must be \$25,000.00 or more per housing unit.

“T.I.F. Guidelines” means those guidelines established pursuant to the Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act, 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-1, et seq. (“T.I.F. Act”), and adopted by the City Council in “An Ordinance Adopting Guidelines for

Use of Tax Increment Financing Revenues for Construction of Affordable Housing" passed on July 31, 2002, and published at pages 90838 -- 90859 of the *Journal of the Proceedings of the City Council of the City of Chicago* of that date.

"Trust Fund" means the Chicago Low-Income Housing Trust Fund, a not-for-profit organization.

(b) (1) Subject to subsections (b)(2), (b)(3), (b)(4) and (d)(2), whenever the city: (i) approves the rezoning of a lot to permit a higher floor area ratio than would otherwise be permitted in the base district and the lot is subsequently developed with a residential housing project; (ii) approves the rezoning of a lot from a zoning district that does not allow household living uses to a zoning district that allows household living uses and the lot is subsequently developed with a residential housing project; (iii) approves the rezoning of a lot from a zoning district that does not allow household living uses on the ground floor of a building to a zoning district that permits household living uses on the ground floor, and the ground floor is subsequently developed with a residential housing project; or (iv) sells real property to any developer on which for the purpose of the development of a residential housing project is subsequently developed ten or more housing units, and the sale price is less than the fair market value of property, the developer shall be required to establish at least ten percent of the housing units as affordable housing or the equivalent as provided in subsection (d); provided that the developer of any residential housing project subject to clauses (b)(1)(i), (ii) or (iii) and subject to subsection 17-4-1004-D of the Zoning Code may meet the affordable housing requirements provided in this section by complying with the affordable housing floor area bonus provided for in section 17-4-1004; provided however further, that if a developer also receives financial assistance, the developer instead shall comply with the requirements of subsection (c) of this section.

(2) In the case of existing buildings subject to the requirements of subsection (b)(1), subsection (b)(1) shall apply as follows:

(i) for an existing building that contains housing units at the time of the approval of the zoning change, only the additional floor area space that is developed with a residential housing project is subject to the affordable housing requirement;

(ii) for an existing building that contains a mixed-use occupancy with one use being residential at the time of the approval of the zoning change, only the additional floor area space approved for residential use that is developed with a residential housing project is subject to the affordable housing requirement;
or

(iii) for an existing building with respect to which the developer receives financial assistance pursuant to subsection (c) or has purchased city land

pursuant to clause (b)(1)(iv), the entire building is subject to the affordable housing requirement.

(3) The provisions of subsection (b)(1) shall not apply to: (i) any residential housing project located on property that was rezoned and thereby converted to a nonconforming use, if the City Council approves a change in zoning solely for the purpose of restoring the residential housing project to a conforming use; or (ii) the development of a residential housing project on a lot that has been rezoned as described in clauses (b)(1)(i), (ii) or (iii) for which a building permit is applied for 3 years or more after the date of the approval of the zoning change by the City Council.

(4) Subject to subsection (d)(2), for every planned development, the development of affordable housing shall be as follows:

(i) For every planned development that does not meet the eligibility requirements of subsection 17-4-1004-B of the Zoning Code and for which the city approves the rezoning of a lot as described in clauses (b)(1)(i), (ii) or (iii) or sells real estate to the developer, and in which a residential housing project is developed, the developer shall be required to establish ten percent of the housing units as affordable housing or the equivalent as provided in subsection (d).

(ii) For every planned development that meets the eligibility criteria of subsection 17-4-1004-B of the Zoning Code and for which the city approves the rezoning of a lot as described in clauses (b)(1)(i), (ii) or (iii) or sells real estate to the developer, and in which a residential housing project is developed, the developer shall be required to establish ten percent as affordable housing or the equivalent as provided in subsection (d): provided that if the planned development is also subject to the requirements of section 17-4-1004-D, the developer may elect to meet his or her affordable housing requirements provided for in this section by complying with the affordable housing floor area bonus provided for in section 17-4-1004.

(iii) For every planned development that meets the eligibility criteria of subsection 17-4-1004-B which does not involve any rezoning of the lot as described in clauses (b)(1)(i), (ii) or (iii), or the sale of any real estate by the city, and in which a residential housing project is developed, the developer shall be required to establish ten percent of the housing units as affordable housing or the equivalent as provided in subsection (d), unless the developer participates in the affordable housing floor area density program by purchasing additional floor area pursuant to section 17-4-1004.

(iv) For every planned development for which the developer receives financial assistance and in which a residential housing project is developed, the developer shall comply with the requirements of subsection (c) of this section.

(v) The provisions of this subsection (b)(4) shall not apply to any planned development for which:

(A) a planned development agreement or other agreement was specifically authorized by the City Council prior to the effective date of this 2007 amendatory ordinance; or

(B) an amendment to a planned development agreement or other agreement is specifically authorized by the City Council after the effective date of this 2007 amendatory ordinance; provided, however, that if such amendment authorizes the addition of floor area for the development of 10 or more housing units, the development of the additional housing units shall be subject to the affordable housing requirement of this subsection.

(c) Subject to subsection (d)(2), whenever ~~Whenever~~ financial assistance is provided to any developer in connection with the development of a residential housing project ~~ten or more housing units~~, the developer shall be required to establish ~~at least~~ 20 percent of the housing units as affordable housing or the equivalent as provided in subsection (d).

(d) (1) A developer subject to the provisions of subsections (b) or (c), who receives financial assistance, or acquires city property for less than fair market value may establish affordable housing by one or more of the following: ~~(1 i)~~ the development of affordable housing units as part of the ~~development~~ residential housing project; ~~(2 ii)~~ payment of a fee in lieu of the development of affordable housing units; or ~~(3 iii)~~ any combination thereof. The amount of the fees described in clause ~~(2) (d)(1)(ii)~~ shall be \$100,000.00 for each affordable housing unit not developed as part of the ~~development~~ residential housing project, adjusted annually based upon the United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics Consumer Price Index for all Urban Consumers for the Chicago metropolitan area, or some other comparable index selected by the commissioner in his reasonable discretion if this index no longer exists. Such fees shall be deposited into the Affordable Housing Opportunity Fund, unless required to be deposited into another fund pursuant to federal or state law.

(2) The number of affordable housing units developed in a residential housing project may be less than ten percent as required by subsection (b) or less than twenty percent as required by subsection (c), if the developer develops on-site owner occupied affordable housing units at a price that is affordable to households earning up to eighty percent of the Chicago Primary Metropolitan Statistical Area median income, and the commissioner determines that the development of the lesser amount of such housing units is substantially equivalent to the developer's total affordable housing requirement pursuant to this section. The development of a housing unit pursuant to this clause shall be subject to all of the other provisions of this section.

(e) A separate fund is hereby established designated the Affordable Housing Opportunity Fund which shall be supported by the fees collected under this section. The revenues of the Affordable Housing Opportunity Fund shall be disbursed as follows:

(1) sixty percent of the annual revenues deposited into the fund shall be used for the construction or rehabilitation of affordable housing; and subject to appropriation by the city council; and

(2) forty percent of the annual revenues deposited into the fund shall be contributed to the Trust Fund of which one-half of the forty 20 percent shall be restricted solely for the purpose of deposit into the Trust Fund's corpus, and the remaining one-half of the forty 20 percent shall be used for the Trust Fund's Affordable Rents for Chicago program, or similar successor program.

(f) The affordable housing units required by this ordinance shall continue to be affordable housing for a period of 30 years after the time of the issuance of the certificate of occupancy (or after the first day of the initial lease if no such certificate is issued) in the case of rental housing or after the closing of the initial sale in the case of owner-occupied housing, unless:

(1) The property is foreclosed upon or condemned, or a deed in lieu of foreclosure is given; or

(2) The seller of an affordable housing unit has sold the unit to a household that does not meet the eligibility criteria and has paid the recapture fees required by subsection (i) of this section-; or

(3) The affordable housing unit is placed in or administered by the CLT, in which case the requirements of subsection (j) of this section shall apply.

(g) Except as provided in ~~subsection~~ subsections (i) and (j) of this section, the rental or sale of an individual affordable housing unit required under this section shall be made only to a household meeting the eligibility criteria.

(h) With respect to ~~developments~~ the development of residential housing projects and planned developments assisted by the city with tax increment revenues ("T.I.F. Funds") in redevelopment project areas established pursuant to the T.I.F. Act, to the extent that the requirements of ~~subsections (b), (c), (d) and (f)~~ of this section conflict with the T.I.F. Guidelines, the T.I.F. Guidelines shall prevail.

To the extent that redevelopment plans approved pursuant to the T.I.F. Act provide that developers who receive T.I.F. Funds for market rate housing set aside 20 percent of the units to meet "affordability criteria established by the Department of Housing", the requirements of ~~subsections (b), (c), (d) and (f)~~ of this section shall be deemed to be the "affordability criteria established by the Department of Housing" and shall supersede all others.

(i) Prior to the issuance of a building permit, for any planned development or residential housing project subject to the affordable housing requirements of this section:

(1) the developer shall pay an amount equal to the required fee in lieu pursuant to subsection (d)(1)(ii); or

(2) the ~~The~~ commissioner shall cause ~~record~~ a lien, regulatory agreement or similar instrument to be recorded, initially, prior to development, against the land comprising the planned development or residential housing project, and subsequently, in connection with the sale or rental of any affordable housing unit, against the land on which such ~~with respect to each~~ affordable housing unit is located to secure the requirements of this section and the recapture of the following amounts:

(~~1~~ i) Upon the initial sale of any housing unit required to be affordable housing under this section at a price that renders the housing unit not affordable housing, or to a household that does not meet the eligibility criteria, the developer shall pay an amount equal to the payment of fees in lieu of creating the affordable housing unit as provided in subsection (d)(~~2~~ 1)(ii) of this section;

(~~2~~ ii) Upon the resale or transfer of any housing unit required to be affordable under this section at a price that renders the housing unit not affordable housing, or to a household that does not meet the eligibility criteria, the seller or transferor shall pay an amount equal to the difference, at the time of the initial sale, between the affordable housing unit's market value and its affordable housing price plus three percent per year interest from the date of the initial sale on that difference, unless the affordable housing unit is placed in or administered by the CLT, in which case the requirements of subsection (i) of this section shall apply;

(~~3~~ iii) Upon the rental of any housing unit required to be affordable under this section at a rental price that renders the housing unit not affordable housing, or to a household that does not meet the eligibility criteria, the owner shall pay a fee of \$500.00 per unit per day for each day that the owner is in noncompliance; provided that prior to the assessment of the penalty, the owner shall have 90 days, after written notice from the commissioner, to cure

the noncompliance. If after 90 days the owner fails to cure the noncompliance, the fees shall be assessed from the first day of noncompliance. The 90-day time period to cure the noncompliance may be extended by the commissioner for good cause.

(iv) Any fines or penalties imposed by the city for a violation of this section.

The fees collected under this subsection shall be deposited into the Affordable Housing Opportunity Fund, unless required to be deposited into another fund pursuant to federal or state law.

(j) Subject to prior notification to the alderman of the affected ward and approval of the commissioner, affordable housing units required to be provided pursuant to this section may be placed in or administered by the CLT. The initial rental or sale of such affordable housing units shall be subject to the income eligibility and price restrictions set forth in this section, but the resale or transfer of such affordable housing units, and the amounts subject to recapture in connection with a violation of the CLT's resale and transfer restrictions, shall be governed by the terms of a restrictive covenant, long-term ground lease, or similar instrument, designed to balance the competing goals of long-term affordability and providing a fair return on the homeowner's investment.

(k) Failure to pay the required fee in lieu or develop the on-site affordable housing units required by this section shall be a violation of this section punishable by a fine in an amount equal to two times the payment of fees in lieu required in subsection (d)(1)(ii) of this section and, in the case of a residential real estate developer licensed pursuant to chapter 4-40, the revocation of the developer's residential real estate developer license.

(l) The commissioner is authorized to adopt such rules and regulations as the commissioner may deem necessary for the proper administration and enforcement of this section.

SECTION 2. Chapter 4-40 of the Municipal Code is hereby amended by adding the language underscored and by deleting the language struck through, as follows:

4-40-065 Duties.

A licensee or any person requiring a license under this chapter shall have the following duties:

(Omitted text is unaffected by this ordinance.)

(D) To comply with the requirements of section 2-44-090, if applicable.

4-40-070 License -- Revocation.

Three or more violations of this chapter on three different days within a 12-month period may result in license revocation in accordance with section 4-4-280 of this Code; provided that a license may be revoked for a single violation of subsection 4-40-065(D).

SECTION 3. Title 17 of the Municipal Code of Chicago is hereby amended by adding new sections 17-4-1004-F, 17-13-302-D and 17-13-0613, by adding the language underscored, and by deleting the language struck through, as follows:

17-4-1004-D Rezoning To Higher (F.A.R.) District.

Property ~~that is rezoned to in~~ a DC, DX or DR district that is rezoned to a zoning classification that allows a higher base floor area ratio and is subsequently developed with additional residential dwelling units must provide on-site affordable housing units or make cash contributions to the city's Affordable Housing Opportunity Fund in accordance with the standards of this subsection; provided that the developer of every residential housing project, as that term is defined in section 2-44-090, and every planned development subject to the provisions of this subsection and section 2-44-090 may elect to comply with the affordable housing requirement provisions of section 2-44-090 instead.

17-4-1004-E Standards.

Buildings that meet the eligibility criteria of section 17-4-1004-B and that provide affordable housing or contribute to the city's Affordable Housing Opportunity Fund are eligible for floor area bonuses provided they comply with the following standards. These standards also apply to projects that are subject to 17-4-1004-D.

1. Projects that receive city financial assistance to provide affordable housing are ~~not~~ eligible for affordable housing floor area bonuses; provided that any payment of fees in lieu or the creation of on-site affordable housing units required as a condition of the financial assistance shall not count as payment of fees in lieu or the creation of on-site affordable housing units for purposes of the affordable housing floor area bonus.

2. Relationship To Mandatory Affordable Housing Standards. Projects that are required to provide affordable housing by other city ordinances are ~~not~~ eligible for affordable housing floor area bonuses; provided that any payment of fees in lieu or the creation of on-site affordable housing units required by such city ordinance shall not count as payment of fees in lieu or the creation of on-site affordable housing units for purposes of the affordable housing floor area bonus unless the project is a residential housing project or planned development subject to the provisions of section 2-44-090 that is meeting its affordable housing requirement pursuant to that section.

(Omitted text is unaffected by this ordinance.)

5. Term. The minimum guaranteed term for continued affordability of affordable housing units must be no less than 30 years, unless the affordable housing units are placed in or administered by the CLT, as that term is defined in section 2-44-090. The initial rental or sale of such affordable housing units place in or administered by the CLT shall be subject to the income eligibility and price restrictions set forth in this section, but the resale or transfer of such affordable housing units shall be governed by the terms of a restrictive covenant, long-term ground lease, or similar instrument, designed to balance the competing goals of long-term affordability and providing a fair return on the homeowner's investment.

6. Timing Of Cash Payments And Financial Guarantees. Property owners that are subject to the affordable housing standards of this section must pay the required cash contribution or provide a performance bond or other security ensuring construction of the affordable housing units before the issuance of building permits for the construction of the subject buildings. Such bond or security must be:

(a) in an amount equal to the cash contribution required under 17-4-1004-C2 or section 17-4-1004-D2, whichever is applicable; and

(b) released after the commissioner of housing has certified that the on-site affordable housing units have been created ~~when the premises have been inspected and the Zoning Administrator has certified that the affordable housing units have been constructed.~~

(Omitted text is unaffected by this ordinance.)

17-4-1004-F Affordable Housing Requirement.

The developer of every planned development and every residential housing

project, as that term is defined in section 2-44-090, subject to the provisions of section 2-44-090 shall comply with the requirements of section 2-44-090, if applicable, unless the developer elects to comply with the affordable housing requirement provisions of section 17-4-1004 instead.

17-13-302-D Affordable Housing Requirement.

Property that is rezoned to a zoning classification that allows a higher base floor area ratio and is subsequently developed with a residential housing project, as that term is defined in section 2-44-090, shall comply with the affordable housing requirements of section 2-44-090, if applicable; provided that the developer of every residential housing project subject to the provisions of section 2-44-090 and subsection 17-4-1004-D may elect to comply with the affordable housing requirement provisions of section 17-1004 instead.

17-13-0613 Affordable Housing Requirement.

Every planned development in which a residential housing project will be developed, as those terms are defined in section 2-44-090, shall comply with the affordable housing provisions of section 2-44-090, if applicable; provided that the developer of every planned development subject to the provisions of section 2-44-090 in which a residential housing project will be developed may elect to comply with the affordable housing requirement provisions of section 17-1004 instead.

SECTION 4. Severability. If any provision of this ordinance is held invalid, such provision shall be deemed excised from this ordinance and the invalidity thereof shall not affect any of the other provisions of this ordinance. If the application of any provision of this ordinance to any person or circumstance is held invalid, it shall not affect the application of such provision to other persons or circumstances.

SECTION 5. This ordinance shall be in force and effect ninety (90) days after its passage and publication but shall not apply to: (1) any residential housing project developed on land acquired by the developer within two (2) years prior to the passage of this ordinance; or (2) any application for zoning change or a planned development that was filed with the Zoning Administrator prior to the effective date of this ordinance.

MISCELLANEOUS BUSINESS.

Time Fixed For Next Succeeding Regular Meeting.

By unanimous consent, Alderman Burke presented a proposed ordinance which reads as follows:

Be It Ordained by the City Council of the City of Chicago:

SECTION 1. That the next succeeding regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Chicago to be held after the meeting held on Monday, the fourteenth (14th) day of May, 2007, at 8:30 A.M., be and the same is hereby fixed to be held on Monday, the twenty-first (21st) day of May, 2007, at 12:00 Noon in the Council Chambers in City Hall.

SECTION 2. This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage.

On motion of Alderman Burke, the foregoing proposed ordinance was *Passed* by yeas and nays as follows:

Yeas -- Aldermen Flores, Haithcock, Preckwinkle, Hairston, Lyle, Beavers, Harris, Beale, Pope, Balcer, Cárdenas, Olivo, Burke, T. Thomas, Coleman, L. Thomas, Lane, Rugai, Brookins, Muñoz, Zalewski, Solis, Ocasio, Burnett, E. Smith, Carothers, Reboyras, Suarez, Matlak, Mell, Austin, Banks, Mitts, Allen, Laurino, O'Connor, Doherty, Natarus, Daley, Tunney, Levar, Shiller, Schulter, M. Smith, Moore, Stone -- 46.

Nays -- None.

Alderman Natarus moved to reconsider the foregoing vote. The motion was lost.

Adjournment.

Thereupon, Alderman Burke moved that the City Council do *Adjourn*. The motion *Prevailed* and the City Council *Stood Adjourned* to meet in regular meeting on Monday, May 21, 2007, at 12:00 Noon in the Council Chambers in City Hall.

MIGUEL DEL VALLE,
City Clerk.